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Georgetown Historic District was established by an Act of the Maryland 
Assembly and listed in the National Register of Historic Places in 1967, an 
automatic designation triggered by its designation as a National Historic 
Landmark. In 1751, George Towne included a tobacco house and inspection 
station, a few houses, shops, a tavern and ferry landing related to the tobacco 
trade. The street plan oriented towards the harbor. Little remains of this era.

The Georgetown African American Historic Landmark Project and Tour 
documented research includes what is missing; the stories of the African 
Americans who once worked and lived in historic Georgetown. In conjunction 
with the current C&O Canal’s restoration and Georgetown’s commercial 
revitalization, the project interjects interpretive signage into the landscape’s 
allure to attract and maintain a steady stream of consumers seeking new 
information on the historic and cultural landscape. By not taking artifacts 
away and recreating the historic landscape through signage and educational 
materials, Georgetown transforms into an immersive museum experience. 
Plans are being made for Georgetown Waterfront United Nation’s UNESCO Site 
of Memory memorial after the passing of an Act of Congress which places an 
international appreciation for our nation’s capital diverse cultural heritage.

GAAHLP continues manufacturing and installing 25 - 6” PHASE I bronze markers 
on private property and 20 Phase II bronze plaques in public spaces and on DC 
property. GAAHLP launched GAAHLiteraryCollection seeking to memorialize 
the family’s story dating back to the 17th century in a collection of books. Yale 
University students begin research on the waterfront starting Fall 2021. PSA’s 
undertaken by students and a film concept being considered by Maryland Public 
Television chronicles the impact of Georgetown University’s sell of 272 enslaved. 
In partnership with the National Park Service, walking tours and interpretive 
signage are being designed. An audio tour should be completed by fall 2021. 
Additional fundraising activities continue once Covid-19 is under control and 
groups can congregate to include possibly exhibiting an original copy of the 13th 
Amendment. Grants have been submitted.

OVERVIEW

TEXT CONTENT FOR EACH PLAQUE

AUTHORED BY: Andrena Crockett

EDITED FOR HISTORICAL CONTEXT BY: Jerry McCoy and Carrol R. Gibbs

PROOFED BY: Sherri Schmidt
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MPATAPO
“knot of pacification / reconcilliation”
SYMBOL OF:
reconciliation, peacemaking, pacification
Mpatapo represents the bond or knot 
that binds parties in a dispute to a 
peaceful, harmonious reconcilliation. It is 
a symbol of peacemaking after strife

ADINKRA SYMBOLS

SANKOFA
“return and get it”
SYMBOL OF:
the importance of 
learning from the 
past

NEA ONNIM NO SUA A, OHU
“he who does not know can 
know from learning”
SYMBOL OF:
knowledge, life-long 
education, and continued 
quest for knowledge

PHASE 1 MARKERS INSTALLED ON 
PRIVATE PROPERTY

2710 P STREET

2624 DUMBARTON

2704 N STREET

3044 P STREET
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Brinetown, Western High School

Poplar Street

Pomander Walk

Blue Mouse Theater

Dumbarton House

Grace Street, Cissell Alley, Cherry Hill

Boston Area East End

City Tavern Club, Transportation Hub

Chamberlain School

James Fleet, Union Hotel, Smothers School

Lee Grain and Feed Store

Benjamin Banneker, Suter Tavern

Montgomery Tavern, Slave Quarters

Slave Pen, Georgetown Theatre, The Marshalls

Phillips School

Alfred and Hannah Pope’s Residence

Yarrow Mamout

Wormley’s School

Joseph Moor, Grocer

Market House

3500 R St. NW

1417 28th St. NW

1555 Volta St. NW

2555 M St. NW

2715 Q St. NW

1044 Wisconsin Ave. NW

3333 K St. NW

3207 M St NW

2512 East Place NW

2929 M St. NW

2900 O St. NW

3109 K St. NW

1403 Wisconsin Ave. NW

1400 Wisconsin Ave. NW

2735 Olive St. NW

2902 O St. NW

3324 Dent Pl. NW

3329 Prospect St. NW

4298 Reservoir Rd. NW

3276 M St. NW
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1209, 0040

1196, 0196

1189, 0088
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1186, 0800

DGS

PS

PS

PS

PS

PS

PS

PS

PS

PS

PS

PS

PS

PS

PS

PS

Private

PS

PS

DGS

DESCRIPTION STYLE SQ LOTOWNER# ADDRESS

LOCATION LIST



gaahlp.org OG 21-009, HPA 21-023

 PAGE 6SIGN TYPES

ROADSIDE MARKER
 
          

          

Photograph of porcelain 
tile #17 Yarrow Mamout.

WALL PLAQUE
 

          

WAYSIDE MARKER
 

          

NOTES:
The reproduction of the tile depends on the quality of the 
original photo. If for some reason it reproduced better 
on metal, metal will be used.

No. 2 does not obstruct the view forward down the alley 
towards 27th Street.  

NO. 10 has both Phase I and Phase II markers.  The 
property owner requested Phase I, however, GAAHLP 
felt the two lines on the Phase II marker contained 
significant information.

No. 18 will possibly have four tiles.  More research is 
needed to include the 4th tile. The 4th tile represents a 
significant historical reference.
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ROADSIDE MARKER
 
ON BRICK

WALL PLAQUE
 
INSTALLED AT MORTAR JOINTS
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WAYSIDE MARKER
ON CONCRETE

WAYSIDE MARKER
ON SOIL

WAYSIDE MARKER
ON BRICK

WAYSIDE MARKER
ALTERNATE TILT ANGLE
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NO.1 Brinetown
3500 R Street NW

35TH STREET N
W

#01 | BRINETOWN | 3500 R STREET NW

JOB #45937 | 18” X 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
BRINETOWN AND WESTERN HIGH SCHOOL
When Western High School—today the Duke Ellington School for the Arts—was 
built in 1898, African Americans in the old Brinetown neighborhood around 35th 
Street and Reservoir Road were displaced to create housing for white families. 
The expansion of Georgetown University and construction of University Hospital 
forced more African American families to move. Unable to attend Western due 
to segregation, African American students had to commute to other city high 
schools, such as Dunbar High School, Armstrong Manual Training School, and 
Cardozo Business High School. Western High School integrated in the 1950s, and 
self-assured African American students resolved to strive despite discrimination 
and discouragement. 
PHOTO SIZE: N/A     CHARACTER COUNT: 724     OVER ALLOWANCE: 292

BRONZE PLAQUE 

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON SOIL
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NO.2 Poplar Street
1417 28th Street NW

28TH STREET N
W

JOB #45937 | 18” X 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
POPLAR STREET
Early wealthy Georgetown residents built dwellings in alleys to house their staff 
and servants. By the late 1910s, mostly African Americans lived in these homes. 
Poplar Alley served 32 African Americans living in 11 small wood frame houses. 
The New Deal brought an influx of government workers, artists, and intellectuals 
to Georgetown looking for housing. In response, the Alley Dwelling Act of 1934 
established an agency to acquire these small dwellings for “improvement.” 
Residents of Poplar Alley were displaced, and the houses were restored, renamed 
“coach houses,” and sold to District newcomers
PHOTO SIZE: 4.375” X 2.5”     CHARACTER COUNT: 603     OVER ALLOWANCE: 171

#02 | POPLAR STREET | 1417 28TH STREET NW

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON SOIL
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NO.3 Pomander Walk
1555 Volta Street NW(Volta Park) 
Across from Pomander Walk

VOLTA PLACE NW

VOLTA PARK

JOB #45937 | 18” x 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
POMANDER WALK
In 1867, following the Civil War, Georgetown’s African American population grew 
to 3,284, almost 28 percent of the total population of 11,793. They mostly lived 
in dwellings in alleys like Pomander Walk (formerly Bell’s Court, named after 
Alexander Graham Bell, who had his lab on Volta Place). African Americans lived 
in Bell’s Court for over 60 years, until the Alley Dwelling Act of 1934 made it easy 
to evict alley tenants. Bell’s Court was declared uninhabitable in 1950, and the 
remaining 41 African Americans were forced out. Their 10 houses became “coach 
houses” for federal workers arriving in the District.
PHOTO SIZE: 3.625” X 3.875”   CHARACTER COUNT: 609  OVER ALLOWANCE: 177

#03 | POMANDER WALK | 1555 VOLTA STREET NW (VOLTA PARK)

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON BRICK
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NO.4 Blue Mouse Theater
2555 M Street NW

26TH STREET N
W

JOB #45937 | 18” X 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
BLUE MOUSE THEATRE
The Blue Mouse Theatre, at 2819 (renumbered 1206) 26th Street, opened in 1910 
as a vaudeville house. It was part of a theater circuit run by Sherman H. Dudley, 
a prominent African American vaudevillian who created the first touring agency 
controlled by African Americans. Seating 400, the one-story theater featured 
local talent and later also showed motion pictures. In 1932, it was renovated and 
reopened as the Mott Theater, in honor of abolitionist Lucretia Mott. The theater 
officially closed in 1949. Across from the theater, near the M Street Bridge, First 
Baptist Church on Dumbarton Street baptized hundreds of African Americans in 
Rock Creek when white ministers refused to hold African American infants while 
administering the rite.
PHOTO SIZE: 4.25” X 3.25”   CHARACTER COUNT: 723   OVER ALLOWANCE: 291

#04 | BLUE MOUSE THEATRE | 2555 M STREET NW (26TH STREET VIEW)

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON CONCRETE
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NO.5 Dumbarton
2715 Q Street NW

ENTRANCE 

JOB #45937 | 18” X 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
DUMBARTON HOUSE
Both enslaved and free African Americans worked for Joseph Nourse at 
Dumbarton House from 1804 to 1813. Some lived on the property; others 
were hired in. Dinah prepared meals in her 25 years with the family, coming 
to Washington when they moved from Philadelphia. Bacchus, enslaved until 
1809, was a coachman described as behaving as well as any Negro while being 
deprived of dignity and the ability to acquire property. Jane sewed and handled 
daily household cash. Juba worked in the garden and escorted the family on trips. 
The urban setting allowed Dumbarton’s enslaved workers to interact with other 
African Americans, free and enslaved, in the community. 
PHOTO SIZE: 9.25” X 2.5”     CHARACTER COUNT: 647     OVER ALLOWANCE: 215

#05 | DUMBARTON | 2715 Q STREET NW (27TH STREET VIEW)

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON SOIL
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NO.6 Grace Street, Cissell Alley, Cherry Hill Lane
1044 Wisconsin Avenue NW

GRACE STREET NW

#06 | GRACE STREET | 1044 WISCONSIN AVENUE NW (GRACE STREET VIEW)

JOB #45937 | 12” X 18” (SINGLE-SIDED) | ROADSIDE MARKER DRAWING
GRACE STREET, CHERRY HILL LANE, CECIL PLACE,  BRICKYARD HILL HOUSE AND 
DEBTORS’ PRISON
African Americans and people of European descent originally lived side by side 
in the Grace Street–Cherry Hill–Cissel (Cecil) Alley area. Across Wisconsin at 3134 
South Street, Georgetown’s first mayor, Robert Peter, had a house, built ca. 1800, 
in Brickyard Hill. Both areas provided a steady workforce for the growing industry 
along the waterfront, and in 1890 more houses were built on Cherry Hill Lane 
behind Cissel Alley. A debtors’ prison at 1028 Wisconsin supposedly served as a 
“colored mission” before it was demolished in 1896. By 1910 the neighborhood 
was predominantly African American and had few city services, including proper 
sewers. After the Alley Dwelling Act of 1934, 112 African Americans in 27 houses 
on Cissel Alley were forced to move, and many dwellings below Brickyard Hill 
were torn down due to unsanitary conditions.
PHOTO SIZE: 3.625” X 2.5”   CHARACTER COUNT: 864   OVER ALLOWANCE: 432

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

ROADSIDE 
MARKER

ON BRICK
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34TH STREET N
W

K STREET NW

NO.7 Boston Area East End
3333 K Street NW

JOB #45937 | 18” X 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
BOSTON AND POTOMAC STREET
Hungary Hill, Paradise Flats, and Frog Island together were called Boston, a 
colorful haven for the nefarious and refugees alike. Red Bill hung out here with 
his gang in the deserted Henry Foxall mansion at 34th Street below the canal, 
then called Buzzard’s Roost. Hoodlums loitered in the alleys to fight gangs 
coming from Rosslyn, Virginia, across the Aqueduct and the later Key Bridge, 
and every Saturday night police hauled off prostitutes and gamblers. During 
the Civil War, African Americans escaping slavery traveled across the Potomac 
River on the Long Bridge, today’s 14th Street Bridge, built in 1808 for foot, horse, 
and stagecoach traffic. Three saloons, two livery stables, a barbershop, and the 
marketplace were nearby, and many refugees settled and found work in Boston 
and around Potomac Street. African Americans never deserted this area and were 
never forced out. 
PHOTO SIZE: 5” X 2.875”     CHARACTER COUNT: 844     OVER ALLOWANCE: 412

#07 | BOSTON AREA EAST END | 3333 K STREET NW (34TH STREET VIEW)

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON CONCRETE
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M STREET NW

NO.8 City Club, Tranporta�on Hub Revision
3207 M Street NW

JOB #45937 | 18” X 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
CITY TAVERN CLUB AND GEORGETOWN’S TRANSPORTATION HUB
The buying and selling of the enslaved took place not only in market houses and 
slave pens in the District, but also in smaller taverns like the McCandless (today’s 
City Tavern Club) at 3206 M Street. In 1852, Alfred Clarke was born here, the 
third generation enslaved to the owners of the renamed Georgetown Hotel. The 
Civil War spurred the construction of more streetcar lines, and the area around 
Wisconsin and M became a transportation hub, causing social conflict with the 
mixing of races. In 1865 while traveling with a white friend, Laura Haviland,  
Sojourner Truth was forcibly removed from a streetcar by conductor John C. 
Weeden, dislocating her shoulder. The Freedmen’s Bureau helped Truth file 
assault and battery charges, and the conductor had to post bail and lost his job.
PHOTO SIZE: 4.25” X 3.5”   CHARACTER COUNT: 782   OVER ALLOWANCE: 350

#08 | CITY HUB | 3207 M STREET NW (ACROSS STREET VIEW)

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON BRICK
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NO.9 Chamberlain Revision
2512 East Place NW

EAST  PLACE NW

JOB #45937 | 18” X 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
CHAMBERLAIN SCHOOL FOR COLORED
Educator Eliza Chamberlain was born in 1836 in Barnstable, Massachusetts, and 
arrived in Georgetown in 1864, the same year Congress required that a portion of 
the District’s school funds be set aside to educate “colored children.” Sponsored 
by the Pennsylvania Freedmen’s Relief Association, Eliza taught formerly enslaved 
people in the basement of Mt. Zion Church. After a free school for African 
Americans was constructed here in 1866, she became its principal, teaching the 
upper grades. The school served as many as 400 students of all ages in four 
classrooms. In 1870, ill health forced her to return to Barnstable, where she died 
from tuberculosis. The school was renamed the Chamberlain School to honor her 
service. 
PHOTO SIZE: 3.5” X 3”   CHARACTER COUNT: 715   OVER ALLOWANCE: 283

#09 | CHAMBERLAIN REVISION | 2512 EAST PLACE NW

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON SOIL
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NO.10 Union Tavern, Fleet, Smothers
2929 M Street NW (Sun Trust Bank)

30TH STREET N
W

JOB #45937 | 18” X 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
UNION HOTEL, HENRY SMOTHERS, AND DR. JAMES FLEET
African Americans who served in the Civil War were treated along with other 
soldiers at the Union Hotel hospital on the corner of 30th and M Streets. Across 
from the hotel, its exact location unknown, Henry Smothers founded around 
1820 one of the first free schools for African Americans. As demand for education 
escalated, Smothers built a schoolhouse near 14th and H Street, NW. Dr. James 
Fleet, a violinist and one of three black physicians in Georgetown, purchased the 
house at 1208 30th Street in 1843 for $800 and ran a music school for African 
Americans. Fleet had studied medicine under the sponsorship of the American 
Colonization Society, which sought to send the formerly enslaved back to Africa, 
but he refused to emigrate to Liberia after his training, and the society withdrew 
support. Fleet had a career in education and music instead. 
PHOTO SIZE: 3.5” X 3”   CHARACTER COUNT: 830   OVER ALLOWANCE: 398

#10 | UNION TAVERN, FLEET, SMOTHERS | 2929 M STREET NW (30TH STREET VIEW FROM ACROSS)

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON SOIL



gaahlp.org OG 21-009, HPA 21-023

 PAGE 19

NO.11 Lee Revision
2900 M Street NW

29TH STREET N
W

#11 | LEE REVISION | 2900 O STREET NW (29TH STREET VIEW)

JOB #45937 | 18” X 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
ALFRED LEE FEED AND GRAIN STORE
Alfred Lee, one of Georgetown’s more prosperous African Americans, began 
operating a store in the Center Market near Constitution and 7th Street about 
1830. In 1867, looking to expand his business, Alfred purchased several M 
Street properties and opened a feed and grain store at 2900–2908 M Street. He 
maintained his residence at 2708 P Street, purchased in 1850 for $1,000, where 
he lived with S.A. Lee. When Alfred died in 1868, he left an estate of $300,000, 
mostly in real estate, but also $5,200 in store inventory, $1,615 in cash at the 
Riggs National Bank, five gold watches, and a Masonic pin. The store passed to 
his sons, John T. and William H. Lee, and the family operated the business into 
the 1940s. William once lived at 2908 M Street with Hattie E. Lee. In 1942, the 
Washington Star noted that Lee Feed and Grain was the “oldest business among 
Negroes in America.” 
PHOTO SIZE: 4” X 2”   CHARACTER COUNT: 833   OVER ALLOWANCE: 401

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON BRICK
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NO.12 Banneker Revision
3109 K Street NW

k STREET NW

JOB #45937 | 12” X 18” (SINGLE-SIDED) | ROADSIDE MARKER DRAWING
BENJAMIN BANNEKER AND SUTER’S TAVERN
When President Washington commissioned Andrew Ellicott to mark the 
boundaries of the nation’s capital in 1791,  Ellicott chose Benjamin Banneker 
as his assistant. One of Maryland’s most illustrious free African Americans, 
Banneker was a mathematician and astronomer. The first plans for the “Federal 
City” were delivered to Washington at Suter’s Tavern, also known as the Fountain 
Inn, making it the birthplace of the nation’s capital. Occasionally slave auctions 
were held outside. Ellicott and engineer Pierre L’Enfant made the inn their 
headquarters while planning the city, and the first auction of lots to raise money 
for the federal buildings took place there, grossing a little over $2,000. Rather 
than lodging in Suter’s, Banneker slept in a tent at the surveyors’ camp and 
worked on the first of his six almanacs. He sent one to Thomas Jefferson, as proof 
of the intellectual ability of African Americans. 
PHOTO SIZE: 5.125” X 3.5”   CHARACTER COUNT: 882   OVER ALLOWANCE: 450

#12 | BANNEKER REVISION | 3109 K STREET NW

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

ROADSIDE 
MARKER

ON BRICK
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NO.13 Slave Pen Revision
1403 Wisconsin NW on O Street side

K STREET NW

CVS PARKING LOT

JOB #45937 | 18” X 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
MONTGOMERY TAVERN AND SLAVE PEN
Capable of housing over 300 horses in its stables, Montgomery Tavern, at 1363–
1365 Wisconsin, catered to farmers looking to buy the enslaved at John Beattie’s 
auction. The enslaved were held in a pen on O Street that stretched from the alley 
at 3148 to 3138. The foundation stones on 3148 are from the original pen. Henry 
Copperthite, the son of indentured servants and owner of the old Connecticut 
Pie Company at 1403 Wisconsin Avenue, had the Montgomery’s stables and pen 
torn down in 1904 when he built six row houses on O Street. Across O Street, in 
the parking lot behind 1403 Wisconsin, the stones in the wall are reported to be 
recycled from the slave pen.
PHOTO SIZE: 4.5” X 3.5”   CHARACTER COUNT: 654   OVER ALLOWANCE: 222

#13 | SLAVE PEN REVISION | 1403 WISCONSIN AVENUE NW (ACROSS STREET VIEW)

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON BRICK
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NO.14 Slave Pen, Georgetown Theater
1400 Wisconsin Avenue NW

O STREET NW

EX. BUILDING

JOB #45937 | 18” X 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
GEORGETOWN THEATER, SLAVE PEN, AND THE MARSHALL FAMILY
From 1760 to 1850, at 1351 Wisconsin Avenue stood John Beattie’s slave auction 
house—one of the more humiliating and degrading sites in slavery. (It’s the 
old Georgetown Theater, formerly the Dumbarton Theater.) Beattie’s slave 
pen was nearby, at 3206 O Street. After the Civil War, Wisconsin Avenue at O 
Street became a hub for the African American community, with streetcar lines, 
barbershops, and beauty salons. In the 1910s, African American John Marshall 
bought 3206 O Street and property at 3226, 3228, and 3230 O Street. (Francis 
Scott Key had owned 3226 O Street a century earlier.) John and his wife, Della, 
lived at 3228 with their children, John Jr., Susie, and Celia Esther. Customers 
came to 3206’s second floor to Esther’s beauty salon. On the first floor were shoe 
shiners, hat blockers, and cleaners. During holidays, John Jr. kept and sold live 
turkeys in the basement. 
PHOTO SIZE: 3.5” X 3”   CHARACTER COUNT: 868   OVER ALLOWANCE: 436

#14 | GEORGETOWN THEATRE, SLAVE PEN | 1400 WISCONSIN AVENUE NW (O STREET VIEW ACROSS)

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON BRICK
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NO.15 Phillip School Revision
2735 Olive Street NW

OLIVE STREET NW

JOB #45937 | 18” X 12” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
PHILLIPS SCHOOL
Named after abolitionist Wendell Phillips, the Phillips School was built in 1890 to serve east 
Georgetown’s large Afircan American population. Five years earlier, the Wormley SChool has opened 
on the west side of Georgetown, replacing the overcrowded Chamberlain School for the colored. 
The school board proposed moving Wormley’s students to Phillips, but the parents objected dude to 
fears of mosquitoes and malaria from Rock Creek. While the move never took place, the two schools 
were administratively merged around 1930 due to declining enrollment. Phillips closed around 1950. 
Washington international school purchased the building in 1970 and sold it in 1998 to a developer who 
turned it into condominiums. 
PHOTO SIZE: N/A   CHARACTER COUNT: 695   OVER ALLOWANCE: 263

#15 | PHILLIPS SCHOOL REVISION | 2735 OLIVE STREET NW

BRONZE PLAQUE

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON SOIL
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NO.16 Pope Revision

O STREET NW

JOB #45937 | 18” X 14.25”| WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
ALFRED AND HANNAH POPE
Alfred Pope and his mother, Jedidah, moved from South Carolina and lived with 
congressman John Carter at 3013 Q Street. Hannah worked as a lady’s maid at 
tudor place. She was the daughter of Barbara Cole, whose family was enslaved 
to George Washington’s family. Born in 1788, Barbara grew up at Mt. Vernon with 
her parents Sall Twine, a field worker, and George, a gardener. In 1802, Martha 
Washington’s granddaughter, Martha Peters, inherited Barbara who became the 
property of her husband, Thomas Peters. They brought Barbara to Georgetown. 
Hannah grew up at Tudor Place and was sold to Carter when Alfred wanted to 
marry her. They married in 1847 and had 10 children. After Alfred’s return from 
the ill-fated pearl escape, he asked for his freedom. The couple were manumitted 
in 1850 after the congressman’s death. Alfred collected “night waste” to earn 
money and owned a coal yard and several properties, including their residence 
at 2900 O Street. In 1875, he sold land for $2,581 to Mt. Zion United Methodist to 
build its church at 1334 29th street. In 1870, Alfred represented Georgetown at 
the congressional hearings on its merger with Washington city. 
PHOTO SIZE: 4” X 3”   CHARACTER COUNT: 1,067   OVER ALLOWANCE: 554

#16 | POPE REVISION | 2902 O STREET NW (O STREET VIEW)

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON BRICK
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NO.17 Yarrow Mamout Residence
3324 Dent Place, NW

DENT PLACE NW

JOB #50130 | 19” X 15.25” | WAYSIDE MARKER DRAWING
MAHMOUD YARROW OR YARROW MAMOUT
Yarrow Mamout, born in 1736, arrived in Annapolis in 1752 on the Elijah and 
served the Beall family until 1796. His name indicates he was Fulani, and as a 
devoted Muslim, he could read and write Arabic. Freed at age 60, he used money 
earned as a craftsman to finance Georgetown merchants and owned stock in 
the Bank of Columbia. Racism of the slave codes prevented him from attending 
meetings or suing to enforce contracts. White friends interceded in his legal 
affairs.
“Massa tink he got all de work out of Yaro bone. He tell Yaro, go free. You been 
work nuff for me. Go work for you now. Tankee, Yaro say. Yaro go to work for he 
now. Yaro work a soon, a late, a hot, a cold. Massa take sick, die—Yaro money 
gone, go to work again. Get more dollars. Gib him to young massa, he no die. 
Young massa den broke—den go away. Yaro old for true now. Must work again.” 
Yarrow lived in a wood frame house here until his death in 1823. Archeologists 
have failed to confirm whether he is buried here facing Mecca.
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NO.18 Wormley School 
3329 Prospect Street, NW

PROSPECT STREET NW
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WORMLEY SCHOOL
James Wormley, born a free African American in 1819, worked in his family’s 
hackney carriage business and became a prominent businessman and advocate 
for education. Georgetown spent $70 on African American education in 1862. 
After the war, the republican-controlled congress ordered the town to educate 
African americans. In 1871 Wormley persuaded congress to fund one of the 
first public schools for african americans in the district, the sumner school. The 
wormley school opened in 1885, a year after his death. Martha Louise Pope Nash 
and other residents were faculty members. The school remained segregated until 
it closed in 1952. The building later served the learning disabled before closing 
permanently in 1994. In 2008, it was converted to condominiums. Wormley 
owned a ten-acre farm at 3530 Van Ness street, with a horse racing track at Reno 
Road and Van ness street. He operated five boarding houses in the 1500 block 
of I street. Wormley’s hotel, located on the corner of 15th and h street, hosted 
secret meetings during the 1876 election which allowed Rutherford R. Hayes to 
win the presidency in exchange for federal troops withdrawl from the south. The 
withdrawal ended reconstruction, meant to establish equal rights under the law 
and econimic equality, and altered the faters of generations of southern African 
Americans.
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NO.19 Joseph More, Grocer
4928 Reservoir Road

RESERVOIR ROAD NW
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JOSEPH MOOR, GROCER
Joseph Moor, a manumitted African American, lived on this tract of land, known 
as Whitehaven and later as Vineyard Hills, for several years in the early1800s. 
Moor worked in Thomas Main’s nursery and learned to cultivate honey locusts, 
firethorns, fruit trees, and other plants. Main, an immigrant from Scotland, 
employed five or six African Americans to tend his nursery, which supplied plants 
for Thomas Jefferson and other landowners. Main not only paid his workers but 
also taught them to read and write. By 1816 Joseph Moor was a respected grocer 
in Georgetown, where he enjoyed a long friendship with Yarrow Mamout, a fellow 
manumitted African American. 
PHOTO SIZE: 8.5” X 2.5”   CHARACTER COUNT: 651   OVER ALLOWANCE: 219

BRONZE PLAQUE WITH PORCELAIN TILE GRAPHIC INLAY

WAYSIDE 
MARKER
ON SOIL



gaahlp.org OG 21-009, HPA 21-023

 PAGE 28

NO.20 Market House
3276 M Street NW

M STREET NW
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MARKET HOUSE 
The 18th-century market house here had a slave auction block in its basement, 
and excavation has found a sealed tunnel leading from the C&O Canal to the 
auction block. At the time it was customary to hide the public aspects of slavery, 
and the tunnel may have been used to transport the enslaved into the building 
from ships at the waterfront. In 1803 Adam King and John Mitchell deeded the 
property to the Georgetown Corporation “for the use of the market aforesaid, 
forever, and for no other use, interest or purpose whatsoever.” The old building 
was eventually razed, and the present building was built in 1865, housing 
numerous individual merchants. The site became District property in 1871 when 
Georgetown merged with Washington, and a 1966 federal law requires that it be 
preserved and operated as a public market.
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